THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William O. Spencer Jr., Lawyer

Case No.2018-000355

RECEIVED
SEP 07 2018
SC Court of Appeals

JPMorgan Chase Bank

Respondent,

v.

Fritz Allen Timmons

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tasha B. Thompson
Scott & Corley, PA
2712 Middleburg Drive Suite 200
Columbia SC 29204

Fritz A. Timmons, Pro Se
P. O. Box 367
Hartsville, SC 29551

Benjamin Rush Smith, III,
Sarah Beth Nielsen,
Nicholas Andrew Charles @
Nelson Mullins
P. O. Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF CASE

In Feb 2015 the **Respondent threatened the Appellant with foreclosure**. The Respondent had Blocked Appellant from Making Payments via Website then Refused to accept payment via phone. On April 20, 2015 the Respondent filed an assignment of the Mortgage. On Nov 25, 2015 Respondent filed complaint of claim and delivery and foreclosure Without stating Cause of Action as well as Notice of Rights to intervention, Certificate of Exemption(1ST). On Dec 30, 2015 Appellant Request for Foreclosure Intervention and Request for Discovery Respondent did not reply until August 1, 2017. After service of Payment on May 6, 2016 under intervention the Respondent Again Refused to accept and stamped check on May 18, 2016. On or about May 20, 2016, the Appellant learned of the Hearing to be held on May 25. Then on May 25, 2016 Hearing was held (**Clerk failed/Refused to Notify Appellant of Hearing**) in which Judge Henderson issued an Order to Continue FCI due to the Respondent Failure to Appear, Disclose Evidence or notify Appellant of Payment made (Refusal). **A Year later**, on May 17, 2017 Respondent served Cert of Exemption(2nd) from Administrative Order and Motion and Order of References of which was signed by Clerk of Court **without Consent** from the Appellant nor a Consent Order by Judge Henderson on May 22, 2017 (**Clerk failed/refused to Notify Appellant**). On June 13, 2017 Appellant Motion of Default, To Dismiss, to Quiet Title and Counterclaim and Respondent replied on July 12, 2017 along with Motion to Strike. Appellant's "Motion of Default" . On July 7, 2017 Respondent served Motion for Summary Judgment on Standing and Real Party of Interest and Appellant Response on Aug 16, 2017. On July 12/13, 2017 Respondents filed Notice of Appearance of Counsel/Order for Substitution of Counsel On July 17, 2017 Respondent

served Motion for Summary Judgment. On July 24, 2017 William O. Spencer Jr. issued Order for Substitution of Counsel. On Aug 15, 2017 Respondent (not Clerk of Court) served Notice of Hearing the Appellant responded on Aug 25, 2017 along with Demand for Jury Trial. On Sep. 5, 2017 Respondent Reply to motion to Strike Defendants demand for Jury Trial. On Sep. 11, 2017 William O. Spencer Jr. unlawfully filed Order granting Respondents Motions for Judgment on Pleadings, summary judgment while dismissing and striking Appellants pleadings while **noting the demand Jury Trial** and reply for . On Oct 10, 2017 Appellant served Motion to Show Cause and to Strike and disregard Exemption, Order of Reference, Order/Referred, Second Foreclosure Action and Order of 9/12/2017. Oct 23, 2017 Respondent filed Order for Substitution of Counsel and two was issued by William O. Spencer Jr. on Nov 1 and 7. Respondents Demand for Jury Trial was docketed for Jan 4th 2018 in front of Judge Burch (barred from case) and was cancelled due to bad weather then discarded and never heard. On Dec 28, 2017 Respondent filed Affidavit, Affidavit of Indebtedness, Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, and Plaintiff's Notice of Motion and Motion for Summary Judgment. On Jan 18 2018 Respondent (not Clerk of Court) served Notice of Hearing on Jan 29 2018 filed on Jan 23 2018. On Jan 25 2018 Appellant served Response to Plaintiff's Notice of Motion and Motion for Summary Judgment. On Jan 29 2018 @11:19pm Hearing in Front of William O. Spencer Jr. was unlawfully held and ended (exited) @12:04 pm then after driving to the Court House William O. Spencer Jr. filed the Orders of the hearing containing 17 typed pages (not including evidence filed) and filed them @ 12:15pm. These Orders contained ruling of which no issues was raised and all issues that was raised was not written in the Orders. The Respondent entered case with Dirty Hands, "Foreclosure"

as Cause of Action and only Copies of the Mortgage and Note while the Respondent was in Possession of the Original Wet Ink Note. The Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on Feb 26,2018

THE RESPONDENT ENTERED CASE WITH DIRTY HANDS

The Respondent engaged in a deliberately planned and carefully executed scheme to defraud with the Conspiracy of its Counsels, the Clerk of Court and William O. Spencer Jr. Without being the Holder and Owner of the Note nor Mortgage. Nor has the Respondent had any legal standing on its claim to a debt.

The Record of Mortgage clearly shows that Hartsville Community Bank the originator of the Debt, Note and Mortgage as of 6/13/2001. In Feb 2015 the Respondent threatened the Appellant with foreclosure (default letter) Prior to the supposedly assignment on 04/02/2015 (P18 L21-22, P5 L24-25, P6 L1-3)(assignment) in direct violation of 18 U.S. Code §1951, 18 U.S. Code §1952 and thereby violating 18 U.S. Code §1956. Therefore, the Plaintiff actions of that of a debt collector violating 15 U.S. Code §1692e (P7 L7-8, L11) of which states "A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt. Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of this section: (10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer.. " "[T]he assignment of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an assignment of the mortgage, but . . . the assignment of the mortgage alone does not carry with it an assignment of the note." *Hahn v. Smith*, 157 S.C. 157, 167, 154 S.E. 112, 115 (1930);

see also *Ballou v. Young*, 42 S.C. 170, 176, 20 S.E. 84, 85 (1894) ("The transfer of a note carries with it a mortgage given to secure payment of such note.").

This is a Form of Insurance Fraud. The Respondent threatened the Appellant with foreclosure for a supposedly Default in which they themselves prohibited the payments on a "Possible only Debt". The Respondent then had the Security (insurance) assigned to them without Notice after the supposedly Default (damage). This is the same Notion as to a party acquiring insurance to cover the damage on a vehicle after the damage was done. Secondly, weather nor not the Mortgage follows the Note or Note follows the mortgage, The Respondent, would have Breached the Contract by Refusing to accept Payment (check) within two weeks of the supposedly assignment of the Mortgage.

18 U.S. Code §1951 states " (a) Whoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce ... or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, . (b) As used in this section— (1) The term "robbery" means the unlawful taking or obtaining of personal property from the person or in the presence of another, against his will, by means of actual or threatened ... fear of injury, immediate or future, to his person or property, or property in his custody or possession, (2) The term "extortion" means the obtaining of property from another, with his consent, induced by wrongful use of actual ... fear, "

18 U.S. Code § 1952 states "(a) Whoever ... uses the mail ... with intent to— (1) distribute the proceeds of any unlawful activity; or (3) otherwise promote, manage, establish, carry on, or facilitate the promotion, management, establishment, or carrying on, of any unlawful activity, and thereafter performs or attempts to perform— (B) (b) As used in this section (i) "unlawful activity" means ... (2) extortion, ..."

18 U.S. Code § 1956 states “(a) (1) Whoever, knowing that the property involved in a financial transaction represents the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, conducts or attempts to conduct such a financial transaction which in fact involves the proceeds of specified unlawful activity— (A) (i) with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity; or ... (B) knowing that the transaction is designed in whole or in part— (i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity;

The Respondent’s Cause of Action in this foreclosure claim is “Foreclosure” (P8 L11-13, P9 L7-9), Ipso Facto, had no Cause of Action. The Respondent did not have the original Note nor Mortgage. The Respondent had only reduced sized copy of the mortgage copied from the Record of the Mortgage and a reduced sized mono-tone copy of the Note with an in color endorsement of a “attorney-in-fact” (R copy of Mort) of which no attorney-in-fact certification exist on the Record of the Mortgage , Ipso Facto, Fraudulent and most likely Forged endorsement (copy & past) (R copy of note). The Respondent did not and COULD NOT provide the original Note nor Mortgage upon Demand (P 16 L 9-11) at the unlawful hearing performed by W O. Spencer Jr. , Ipso Facto, was not the Holder and Owner at the time the claim was filed (*Carpenter v. Longan*, 83 U.S. 271, 16 Wall. 271, 21 L.Ed. 313 (1872) clearly supports the notion that the Plaintiff must clearly own the Note and the Mortgage to foreclose on the property. Plaintiff failed to show that it owned the Mortgage at the time the Complaint was filed.” see *Deutsche Bank National Trust Company vs. Scott J. Heinrich* (The ninth judicial circuit, state of South Carolina, Charleston, July 30,2013)). The Respondent also did not and COULD NOT deny the fact that the Appellant was in possession of the Original Wet

Ink Note (§36-3-301), *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 223, 746 S.E.2d 478, 482 (Ct. App. 2013) ("A holder is a person in possession of [an] instrument drawn, issued, transferred, or indorsed to him."); §36-3-301 (Supp. 2014) ("Person entitled to enforce' an instrument means (i) the holder of the instrument, (ii) a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder, or (iii) a person not in possession of the instrument who is entitled to enforce the instrument pursuant to [s]ection 36-3-309 or 36-3-418(d). A person may be a person entitled to enforce the instrument even though the person is not the owner of the instrument or is in wrongful possession of the instrument."), *Ipsa Facto, Proves the Perjury Order (R. order) of William O. Spencer Jr. itself contains Perjury. The Respondent did not and Could Not present the Original Mortgage and Note when demanded at the hearing, Ipsa Facto, was not the Holder nor Owner of either the Note nor Mortgage at the time the Respondent filed its claim. The Respondent is not entitled to enforce neither the Note nor Mortgage due to the instruments are "Lost or Destroyed" to them (§36-3-309 (b) A person seeking enforcement of an instrument under Subsection (a) must prove the terms of the instrument and the person's right to enforce the instrument. ... The court may not enter judgment in favor of the person seeking enforcement unless it finds that the person required to pay the instrument is adequately protected against loss that might occur by reason of a claim by another person to enforce the instrument. Adequate protection may be provided by any reasonable means.)*

It is clear that to have standing in this foreclosure case, Plaintiff must not only be the holder & owner of the original Note, but also the Mortgage as well. Plaintiff's Complaint in this case fails to meet this criteria. Plaintiff lacks the standing to initiate and prosecute the foreclosure, and dismissal pursuant to Rule 17(a) and Rule 12(b) (6)

SCRCF is appropriate.

Under the “FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT”(P6 L25- P7 L1-2), 15 U.S.C. §1692, the Plaintiff cannot show it has right to collect the note debt and to request foreclosure, allege: At all times material, Plaintiff is a “debt collector” as the term is defined under 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6); And at all material times, the Note debt is a “debt” as defined under 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5); Plaintiff violated the FDCPA when it filed a Complaint in Foreclosure against the Defendant because it is threatening to take a legal action that it cannot legally take and used a false misrepresentation or deception to collect a debt. 15 U.S.C. §1692(e)(5), (e)(10). See: *Glazer v. Chase Home Finance, LLC*, No. 10-3416 (6th Cir. 2013)(held that mortgage foreclosure is debt collection under the Act). §39-5-20(a) states “Unfair ... or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful.” Also under the Uniform Commercial Code §3-603(b) states “If tender of payment of an obligation to pay an instrument is made to a person entitled to enforce the instrument and the tender is refused, there is discharge.”

When a party acquires/pays off a debt and fails or refused to acquire the Note and/or Mortgage that secures it, that party waves any rights or entitlement to the securities, Ipso Facto, the debt in which the Note and/or Mortgage secures becomes extinguished and the Note and/or Mortgage becomes Null and Void. This Court holds the notion that the Ultimate Contract of America (The United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment) is waved by failing to claim it, then it must hold the same notion to every lesser contract. (*Elvin v. Wuchetich*, 157 N.E. 243, 244–45 (Ill. 1927) (“It has been often decided that a mortgage cannot exist as an independent security in the hands of one person while the note which it is given to secure belongs to another.”)); *Merritt v. Bartholick*, 36

N.Y. 44, 45 (1867) (“[A] transfer of the mortgage without the debt is a nullity, and no interest is acquired by it.”)).

The Mortgage itself under Part 23 of the Mortgage (Morgage) states “Upon Payment of all sums secured by this Security instrument, this Security instrument become null and void. Lender shall release this Security instrument. Borrower shall by any recordation costs.”. Therefore, the Mortgage itself clarifies that when the debt was extinguished without being assigned to any party for security, itself becomes Void and Null. A Null and Void Mortgage is nothing more than a worthless piece of paper with no legal standing, Ipso Facto, when a Null and Void Mortgage is assigned to another party, it remains a worthless piece of paper with no legal standing and the same holds true to the Note.

The above said is also supported by 15 U.S. Code §1602(x) in which the transactions of a mortgaged debt must include the debt, note and mortgage at the same time to retain any Equity and continue to be considered as a “MORTGAGE”. In accordance to 15 U.S. Code §1602(x) The term “**residential mortgage transaction**” means a transaction in which a mortgage, deed of trust, purchase money security interest arising under an installment sales contract, or equivalent consensual security interest is created or retained against the consumer’s dwelling to finance the acquisition or initial construction of such dwelling. Therefore, no mortgage transaction has accrued and there is not legal standing nor equity.

Therefore in the said above violations, Chase was not entitled to an equitable lien or any other form of equitable relief and any seizer of the Appellants property. Without legal standings it would be a direct violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United

States for an unlawful Seizer.

It therefore invoked the doctrine of unclean hands. See *Emery v. Smith*, 361 S.C. 207, 220, 603 S.E.2d 598, 605 (Ct. App. 2004) ("He who comes into equity must come with clean hands. It is far more than a mere banality. It is a self-imposed ordinance that closes the door of the court of equity to one tainted with inequitable or bad faith relative to the matter in which he seeks relief." (quoting *Precision Instrument Mfg. Co. v. Auto. Maint. Mach. Co.*, 324 U.S. 806, 814 (1945)); see also *Symons, Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence* §397, at 91–92 (5th ed. 1941) (stating the unclean hands maxim "says that whenever a party, who . . . seeks to set the judicial machinery in motion and obtain some remedy, has violated conscience, or good faith, or other equitable principle, in his prior conduct, then the doors of the court will be shut against him in limine; the court will refuse to interfere on his behalf, to acknowledge his right, or to award him any remedy"); *Anenson, Limiting Legal Remedies: An Analysis of Unclean Hands*, 99 Ky. L.J. 63 (2011).

Therefore a the party seeking foreclosure has the burden of establishing the existence of legally binding debt with a valid Note and Mortgage of which must be a valid transaction and recorded upon the Record of the Mortgage. The Record of the Mortgage must also show the assignment or transfer of the debt, Mortgage, Note as well as documented assignees and attorney-in-facts. The party must also provide the Original wet ink Note and Mortgage upon Demand at hearing. If party can not provide the Original wet ink Note and Mortgage upon Demand then the Note and/or Mortgage must be considered as non-enforceable thus destroyed, lost, or in the hands of another party.

THE RESPONDENT HAD NO CAUSE OF ACTION

The Respondent clearly quoted that the Cause of Action of this Foreclosure is “Foreclosure” (P8 L11-13, P9 L7-9), Ipso Facto, the Respondent had no Cause of Action. “[a]ll allegations of material fact are taken as true and construed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Smith v. Jackson*, 84 F.3d 1213, 1217 (9th Cir.1996). However, mere conclusions couched in factual allegations are not sufficient to state a cause of action. *Papasan v. Allain*, 478 U.S. 265, 286, 106 S.Ct. 2932, 92 L.Ed.2d 209 (1986); *see also McGlinchy v. Shell Chem. Co.*, 845 F.2d 802, 810 (9th Cir.1988). The complaint must plead “enough facts to state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007) and quoted by *Clemens v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.*, 534 F.3d 1017, 1022 (9th Cir.2008). Summary judgment is not appropriate when “further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 391 S.C. 429, 434, 706 S.E.2d 501, 504 (2011).

WILLIAM O. SPENCER JR. NO JURISDICTION NOR AUTHORITY AND CONSPIRED WITH THE RESPONDENT WITH THEIR COUNSELS AND THE CLERK OF COURT

The Clerk of Court refused to Notify the Appellant to the hearing for 05/25/2016 although the Appellant learn just prior and without time to prepare a defense while the Respondent defaulted and abandoned any cause or issues, Ipso Facto, violated the Appellants Rights of Due Process and committed Extrinsic fraud. Judge Henderson continued the FCI due to (1) Respondent not notified, (2) no Cause of Action on claim (3)

Respondent failed to Appear, (4) check (refuse check) had not cleared the bank (later to be found out that the Respondent refused payment again, Ipso Facto, **dual tracking**. (5) Respondent failed to disclose evidence (Rule RULE 37(3). SCRPC). In order for a lawyer (William O. Spencer Jr. as in this case) to have Equity jurisdiction there must be consent of the parties and/or Court Order of Consent.

A year later, On May 17, 2017, the Respondent filed a Motion/order of reference specifying "William O. Spencer Jr." as special referee and without the Consent of the Appellant nor Order of the presiding Judge (P8 L13-14, L15-18, P10 L1-2,P10 L11-12,12-15) in which the Clerk of Court signed/issued the Order within 5 days of the service (Rubber Stamped) and Failed/Refused to notify the Appellant (Order of Reference) (§14-11-60 stating "reason for which cause can be shown the **presiding circuit court judge, upon agreement of the parties**, may appoint a special referee" , §14-17-250 stating "The clerk of any county in which the office of master does not exist may, **by consent of parties**, sign orders of reference" and Rule 53 SCRPC of which plainly states "In an action **where the parties consent** ... may be referred ... by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court."),

In said case, the Order/Referred to Master is based upon Fraud and Filed without Jurisdiction and without the Consent of the Appellant. See *Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248, 498 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 1998) ("Lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, can be raised for the first time on appeal, and can be raised sua sponte by the court."). The Orders of William O. Spencer Jr. also fails to have any evidence which reasonably supports the findings.

The Appellants Motion of Default, Dismiss and Counter Claim (RULE 41(b),

SCRCP) scheduled (Notice of hearing) and supposedly heard in front of William O. Spencer Jr. in direct violations of said Codes. Ipso Facto, Committing Perjury, conspiracy, Barratry and creating a Shame Legal Process as stated below.

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