THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William O. Spencer, Jr., Special Referee

RECEIVED

MAY 13 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2018-000355

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Respondent,

v.

Fritz A. Timmons, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Nicholas A. Charles
B. Rush Smith III
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

*Attorneys for JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

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

standard practice in the mortgage industry, MERS—because it merely held the Mortgage as nominee and did not own a security interest in Timmons’ property—properly assigned the Mortgage to Chase in April 2015, prior to Chase instituting this foreclosure action.⁶ (Assignment of Mortgage, R. 58). Importantly, a borrower does not have standing to challenge a mortgage assignment. *See Reese v. United States Bank Nat’l Ass’n*, No. 3:11-2990-CMC-SVH, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75652, at *8–9 (D.S.C. Apr. 30, 2012) (“Plaintiff is only a party to the Mortgage and, because the Assignment is a separate contract to which Plaintiff is not a party, she cannot question its validity.”); *see also Windsor Green Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 12, 17, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Generally, one not in privity of contract with another cannot maintain an action against him in breach of contract.”). Timmons therefore lacked standing to contest the assignment of the Mortgage, and his contention that the assignment was invalid or fraudulent fails as a matter of law and does not affect Chase’s standing.⁷ *See* (App. Br. 17–18). Moreover, South Carolina recognizes “the familiar and uncontroverted proposition . . . that the assignment of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an assignment of the mortgage.” *Hahn v. Smith*, 157 S.C. 157, 154 S.E. 112, 115 (1930); *see also Draper*, 405 S.C. at 220, 746 S.E.2d at 481. Thus, when Chase became the holder of the Note, it also gained the right to foreclose on the

through which members can transfer notes amongst themselves
without having to record each exchange.

Kubic v. MERSCORP Holdings, Inc., 416 S.C. 161, 166, 785 S.E.2d 595, 597–98 (2016).

⁶ The assignment was recorded on April 20, 2015, (Assignment of Mortgage, R. 58), though there is no requirement that an assignment of mortgage must be recorded, *BAC Home Loan Servicing, L.P. v. Kinder*, 398 S.C. 619, 623, 731 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2012) (“[T]he assignment of a mortgage does not need to be recorded, and failure to do so has no effect on the rights of the assignee.”).

⁷ Counsel for Chase presented the original assignment of mortgage to the special referee at the Sept. 6, 2017 hearing. *See* (Sept. 12, 2017 Order at 6, R. 8) (“The original Mortgage Assignment was also presented during the September 6, 2017 hearing.”).

Mortgage. *See Draper*, 405 S.C. at 220–21, 746 S.E.2d at 481 (“A mortgage and a note are separate securities for the same debt, and a mortgagee who has a note and a mortgage to secure a debt has the option to either bring an action on the note or to pursue a foreclosure action.”). There is no question that Chase had standing to foreclose on the property secured by the Mortgage.⁸

A real party in interest is “a party with a real, material, or substantial interest in the outcome of the litigation.” *Draper*, 405 S.C. at 220, 746 S.E.2d at 481; *see also* Rule 17(a), SCRCF (requiring every action to be “prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest”). As the holder of the Note and assignee of the Mortgage, Chase has a material interest in enforcing the instruments and is therefore a real party in interest. *See Draper*, 405 S.C. at 220, 746 S.E.2d at 481 (“It is ownership of the right sought to be enforced which qualifies one as a real party in interest” (quoting 4 S.C. Jur. *Action* § 23 (1991))).

Finally, Timmons also appears to argue Chase is a debt collector under the FDCPA and is unlawfully attempting to foreclose. (App. Br. 7). The FDCPA does not apply to this case. The FDCPA exists to “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692. It defines a “debt collector” as “any person who uses any instrumentality of interstate commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Thus, it applies only to persons attempting to collect debts owed to other persons. *See id.* Because Chase is the holder of the Note,

⁸ Timmons argues Michael Leddy, the signatory of the indorsements on the face of the Note, lacked authority to assign the Note. (App. Br. 17–18). Timmons never raised this issue to the special referee, and it is therefore unpreserved. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

Timmons' debt is owed to Chase. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 36-3-109(c) & -205(b). Chase is therefore not a debt collector under the FDCPA, and the FDCPA does not apply to this case. *See Stoudemire v. Ray*, No. CIV.A. 3:09-2485-CMC, 2012 WL 762037, at *3 (D.S.C. Feb. 9, 2012), *report and recommendation adopted*, No. CIV.A. 3:09-2485-CMC, 2012 WL 762021 (D.S.C. Mar. 8, 2012) (“The FDCPA applies only to ‘debt collectors’ as that term is defined in the statute, and creditors, mortgagors, and mortgage servicing companies are not debt collectors under the FDCPA and are therefore exempt from liability under the FDCPA.”). Timmons’ FDCPA arguments do not affect Chase’s standing to foreclose.

In apparent conjunction with his standing arguments, Timmons also argues without explanation that Chase never stated its cause of action in this case. To the contrary, Chase’s causes of action are clear on the face of its complaint, (Compl., Supp. R. 68–74), and counsel for Chase restated the causes of action at the January 29, 2018 hearing where Timmons first raised this argument, (Jan. 29, 2018 Hearing Tr. at 15, R. 42). To the extent Timmons is arguing the case should have been dismissed for failure to state a claim, Chase properly pled causes of action for foreclosure and claim and delivery in its complaint. *See generally* (Compl., Supp. R. 68–74). Timmons’ argument has no merit.

Finally, Timmons also argues Chase cannot foreclose because the debt has been satisfied, thus rendering the Mortgage null and void. (App. Br. 7–8). Despite Timmons’ repeated assertions, there is no evidence in the record that Timmons paid off the debt, and he repeatedly refused to provide any details of the supposed payoff when pressed by the special referee. (Jan. 29, 2018 Hearing Tr. at 12–14, R. 39–41). Thus, Timmons’ standing arguments failed as a matter of law, and this court should affirm the special referee’s finding that Chase had standing.

II. The special referee had jurisdiction to decide this foreclosure action.

Timmons argues the special referee lacked jurisdiction to decide this case.⁹ (App. Br. 10–15). He also accuses the special referee of committing perjury and fraud upon the court, apparently based on his belief that the special referee did not have the power to decide this case. (App. Br. 18–20). Timmons appears to misunderstand the procedures in foreclosure actions. Despite Timmons’ protests, the procedures followed in this case conformed with the Rules of Civil Procedure, and the special referee properly decided this action. Timmons’ arguments have no merit.

This case involves a cause of action for foreclosure. Rule 53(b) allows the clerk of court to refer an action for foreclosure to a special referee:

In an action where the parties consent, in a default case, or an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court. In all other actions, the circuit court may, upon application of any party or upon its own motion, direct a reference of some or all of the causes of action in a case. Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.

Rule 53(b), SCRPC (emphases added). Contrary to Timmons’ arguments, Rule 53(b) does not require the parties to consent to the case being referred to a special referee. Rather, it provides alternatives—a case may be referred to a special referee if (a) the parties consent, (b), the case is

⁹ In his argument attacking the special referee’s jurisdiction, Timmons complains about a May 25, 2016 hearing. (App. Br. 10). There was no hearing on May 25, 2016. Instead, the circuit judge continued the case pursuant to the Administrative Order because Timmons submitted a request for foreclosure intervention. (May 25, 2016 Order, R. 1). Timmons now suggests additional reasons for the continuance, but the order states only that the case was continued for “FCI,” or foreclosure intervention. (*Id.*). Any arguments Timmons raises related to a May 25, 2016 hearing are therefore meritless.

a default case, or (c) the case is an action for foreclosure. This is an action for foreclosure; therefore, Timmons' consent was not required for reference to the special referee. *See id.*; *see also* Rule 71(a), SCRCP ("Actions to foreclose liens . . . should ordinarily be referred to a master pursuant to Rule 53."). Although this case also involves a cause of action for claim and delivery, Rule 53(b) expressly allows the clerk of court to refer "all of the causes of action" to a special referee.¹⁰ *Id.*

Timmons' request for a jury trial does not save his argument. To the extent Timmons had a right to a jury trial, he waived it when he failed make a timely demand for one. Rule 38(b) requires a jury trial demand to be served no later than ten days after service of the last pleading directed to such an issue. Rule 38(b), SCRCP. The last pleading in this case was Chase's reply to Timmons' counterclaim, which Chase served on July 12, 2017. *See* (Reply to Counterclaim, Supp. R. 75, 84). Timmons had until July 24, 2017, to serve a jury trial demand.¹¹ Timmons failed to serve his demand for a jury trial until August 25, 2017, more than a month after the deadline expired. *See* (Demand for Jury Trial, Supp. R. 135). Timmons therefore failed to "request a jury pursuant to Rule 38," as contemplated by Rule 53(b), and the case properly remained before the special referee. The special referee properly held Timmons waived his right to a jury trial by failing to make a timely demand.¹² (Sept. 12, 2017 Order at 3, R. 5).

¹⁰ Timmons did not raise any objection to the order of reference until August 20, 2017—more than three months after entry of the order.

¹¹ The ten-day deadline fell on a Saturday, so the deadline became the following Monday, July 24, 2017.

¹² Chase acknowledges that the South Carolina Supreme Court has held an action for claim and delivery is one at law that is triable by jury unless a party waives its right to a jury trial. *See First Palmetto State Bank & Tr. Co. v. Boyles*, 302 S.C. 136, 138, 394 S.E.2d 313, 314 (1990) (applying

Further, the clerk's reference to a special referee prior to the filing of the last pleading does not change the outcome of this issue. Rule 53(b) expressly contemplates such a situation. *See* Rule 53(b), SCRCF (requiring a case to be returned to the circuit court if a party demands a jury trial pursuant to Rule 38). Timmons failed to comply with Rule 38. Therefore, this court should affirm the reference to a special referee and the special referee's finding that Timmons waived his right to a jury trial.¹³ *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR (providing this court may affirm on any ground that appears in the record).

Timmons' arguments that the special referee created a sham legal process and committed fraud, perjury, barratry, and conspiracy, (App. Br. 12–15, 18–20), are all based on his belief that the special referee lacked jurisdiction over this case and therefore acted unlawfully when he issued rulings in Chase's favor. The special referee had jurisdiction and the power to resolve all issues that arose in this matter. *See* Rule 53(c), SCRCF (providing a special referee "shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter."). This court should affirm the special referee's rulings.¹⁴

a prior version of Rule 53(b) that did not include foreclosure actions among those that may be referred to a special referee). Timmons waived his right to a jury trial in this case.

¹³ Timmons' argument that his demand for a jury trial "was never docketed," (App. Br. 12), is contradicted by the special referee's consideration of the jury trial demand and ruling that Timmons waived his right to a jury trial.

¹⁴ Timmons has accused Chase of pursuing two foreclosure actions against him and issuing two "certificates of exemption." (App. Br. 2). Timmons misunderstands the procedures in this case. The first certificate of exemption, filed contemporaneously with the summons and complaint, is a certificate of exemption from arbitration because the matter is a mortgage foreclosure. (Nov. 30, 2015 Cert. of Exemption, Supp. R. 101). When Timmons requested foreclosure intervention, Judge Henderson continued the case pursuant to the Administrative Order. (May 25, 2016 Order, R. 1). In May 2017, the case resumed when Chase filed a certificate of exemption from the requirements of the Administrative Order because Timmons failed to complete a loss mitigation

III. Timmons' remaining arguments are meritless or unpreserved.

Timmons raises numerous additional arguments that do not fit neatly into any legitimate issue on appeal. Each of his arguments is either meritless or unpreserved.

Timmons argues the special referee decided issues that were not raised. (App. Br. 16). Timmons fails to identify any such issues. Regardless, the record demonstrates that the special referee decided all the issues raised, and only the issues raised. Timmons also appears to argue that he was not required to file a Rule 59(e) motion to preserve any issues for appeal that he failed to raise to the special referee. *See* (App. Br. 16). This assertion conflicts with South Carolina appellate courts' longstanding precedent. *See, e.g., Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("If our review of the record establishes that an issue is not preserved, then we should not reach it."). To the extent Timmons raised any issues that the special referee did not rule upon, the issues are unpreserved because he failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion requesting a ruling on those issues. *See Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (providing a party must file a Rule 59(e) motion when an issue has been raised, but not ruled upon, to preserve it for appellate review). Any arguments Timmons did not raise to the special referee are also unpreserved. *See Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733.

Timmons accuses Chase's lawyers, the clerk of court, and the special referee of committing criminal acts and asks for Rule 60(b) relief from judgment. (App. Br. 21–22). Timmons has made clear his anger toward the special referee, the clerk of court, and Chase, but he has not presented

application. (May 22, 2017 Cert. of Exemption, R. 62). Chase did not file a second foreclosure action.

any evidence of wrongdoing. Moreover, Timmons never filed a Rule 60(b) motion. This argument is meritless.

Finally, Timmons argues the Mortgage applied to the property alone and did not include his mobile home. (App. Br. 23). Timmons waived this argument when he failed to deny the allegations in Chase’s complaint and, thus, admitted that the Mortgage applies to the mobile home. *See* Rule 8(d), SCRPC. In fact, Timmons never objected or responded to Chase’s cause of action for claim and delivery of the mobile home until he filed his response in opposition to Chase’s motion for summary judgment on the merits—seven months after Chase filed its certificate of exemption from the Administrative Order. *See* (Resp. in Opp. to Chase’s Mot. for Summary J., Supp. R. 197, 201). The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure explain in plain language that a party must admit or deny all allegations in the complaint, and any allegations that are not denied are deemed admitted. Rule 8(d), SCRPC (“Averments in a pleading to which a responsive pleading is required, other than those as to the amount of damage, are admitted when not denied in the responsive pleading.”). Thus, even a pro se litigant must submit a responsive pleading denying the allegations in a complaint. Timmons did not timely deny the allegations in Chase’s complaint related to the mobile home. Consequently, he waived his right to object to Chase’s cause of action for claim and delivery.¹⁵

The following additional arguments are unpreserved because Timmons never raised them to the special referee:

- The allegation that the special referee engaged in extrinsic fraud. (App. Br. 10).
- The allegation that the Mortgage is void for lack of recourse and remedy. (App. Br. 20–21).